### MINUTES of the Finance Committee of Melksham Without Parish Council held on Monday 8<sup>th</sup> January 2024 at Melksham Without Parish Council Offices, Melksham Community Campus (First Floor), Market Place, Melksham, SN12 6ES at 7.00pm

It was noted that due to changes being made to the Budget Working spreadsheets during the meeting that officers would need to double check the figures and spreadsheet formula calculations to ensure that totals were correct. Any figures that were changed as a result of this double checking are therefore highlighted green, and the correct figures captured in these minutes so that they correlate with the Budget working papers, and Precept calculations for the Full Council to approve on Monday 22<sup>nd</sup> January.

**Present:** Councillors John Glover (Chair of Council & Committee), David Pafford (Vice Chair of Council), Alan Baines, Richard Wood, Councillor Shea-Simonds (Committee Vice-Chair) and Councillor Holt and John Doel.

**Officers:** Teresa Strange (Clerk), Marianne Rossi (Finance & Amenities Officer) and Lorraine McRandle (Parish Officer).

**Housekeeping:** Councillor Glover welcomed all to the meeting. As this was the first meeting Councillor Keates had attended Councillor Glover provided him with the housekeeping message to read. All other members at the meeting had regularly attended meetings so did not need this procedure to be read out. Everyone present was aware that the meeting was being recorded and would be published on YouTube following the meeting and deleted once the minutes were approved.

#### 334/23 Apologies:

None.

It was noted that all members of the Finance Committee were present at the meeting.

### 335/23 Declarations of Interest

Councillor Holt declared an interest as Chair of the Berryfield Village Hall Trust in all items relating to Berryfield Village Hall. Councillor Wood also declared an interest in all items related to Berryfield Village Hall as a member of the Trust.

The Clerk declared an interest on behalf of all staff as the budget takes into account recommendations of the Staffing Committee that are yet to be approved by the Full Council. If members wished to discuss individual salaries, staff members would need to leave the meeting while this was being discussed.

### 336/23 Dispensation Requests for this Meeting

None.

# 337/23 To note that Councillors living in the Parish have a dispensation for Precept setting.

It was noted that those Councillors living in the parish had a previously approved dispensation for setting the precept for the current Council Term, 2021-25 (Min 09/21b Annual Council 17<sup>th</sup> May 21).

#### 338/23 To consider holding items in Closed Session due to confidential nature:

The Clerk advised that the budget spreadsheet (agenda item 11) included staff salaries, which had been blanked out to enable the spreadsheet to be viewed on the screen and recorded for YouTube in the public domain. If members wished to discuss individual salaries, this would need to go into closed session. It was noted that the councillors had been provided with a separate paper copy, which did include the staff salaries and was reminded that this was confidential.

It was felt that agenda item 13 (Risk Register) would need to be discussed in closed session because it exposed any council weaknesses.

**Resolved:** Item 13 is to be held in closed session for the reasons provided above.

#### 339/23 Public Participation:

There was one member of the public at the meeting via Zoom who did not wish to speak and was there as an observer. Councillor Keates was present at the meeting; however, was not a member of the Finance Committee so was at the meeting as an observer.

# 340/23 Minutes of Finance Committee 9th January 2023 (annotated with 2022/23 year end figures)

Members noted the minutes of the budget meeting on 9<sup>th</sup> January 2023 as background information before budget setting.

### 341/23 To note repayments made to date, amount outstanding to the Public Works Loan Board and the funds available for repayment. To consider repaying outstanding amount in this financial year if option available

As background information, the parish council took out a public works loan in 2021 to aid cash flow for building Berryfield Village Hall while waiting for income from the section 106 agreement for the hall and CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy) that the council had agreed to be used for the building of the hall. The loan amount taken out was £495,000 over five years, with a total of £17,015.65 in interest being paid back over the loan term. Upon taking out the loan, the Public Works Loan Board charged a fee of £173.25, which was taken out of the principal amount agreed before the money was transferred to the parish council. This means that the actual amount transferred to the council was £494,826.75. For clarity, the total amount for the parish council to pay back for the loan, including interest, is £511,842.40. It was noted that the loan repayment date for the final amount to be paid as per the payment schedule was September 2026.

At the end of the 2022/23 financial year (31<sup>st</sup> March 2023) the council had £346,500 outstanding to pay back on the public works loan, plus any interest payments. To date in

the 2023/24 financial year, £49,500 had been paid back plus interest, and there was another repayment of £49,500 plus interest due to be paid in March 2024. When the Clerk had looked at the Berryfield Village Hall reserve, against how much is left to pay back the loan, the council had enough funds to pay this off completely now with some surplus left over. This is because some CIL funding from the Buckley Gardens development was due to be received in January 2024. While the council did have some visibility of when the CIL for the Buckley Garden development would be received, due to a planning condition set that the development must start on site within a year of its approval, the true amount of CIL receipts was estimated based on the amount received on similar size developments. Officers now have more visibility on the amount due to the parish council from this development, which was £274,423.88 (25% CIL due to an approved Neighbourhood Plan); however, 2/5 of this will go into the 10% sharing pot with Melksham Town Council for joint projects. The parish council's 3/5 share of the first tranche due in January 2024 will be £49.396.30, which gives a total reserve at year end of £275,488.12.

The Clerk advised that she had contacted the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) to query whether there was an opportunity for the parish council to pay back the loan early and, if so, whether there was any benefit or penalty to doing this. The PWLB had come back to say that it was dependent on interest rates, meaning that it was the difference between the interest rate at the time of taking out the loan and the interest rates now, which are checked twice per day. As an example, the Clerk had contacted the PWLB earlier in the day to obtain an estimate of how much would be required to be paid back if the council were to do it now, and it gave a circa £11k discount on the interest. If the committee were minded to recommend to the Full Council to pay back the loan early, the estimate would need to be checked again on the day of the Full Council meeting to ensure that the interest hadn't changed dramatically in the wrong direction. The parish council's bank account only allows up to £150k per day to be paid back to a payee; therefore, this would have to be done in two payments. Officers had contacted the PWLB to ask how this would work, and they confirmed that they always gave the day that the request was made plus two days thereafter. For clarity, if the estimate was requested on Monday before the Full Council meeting in the evening, the council would have until Wednesday to pay the full amount which it would be able to do in two payments, on Tuesday and Wednesday.

The Clerk confirmed that the loan must be used for the purpose it was applied for; and therefore was not able to be used for any other project. After a detailed discussion members agreed in principle to pay back the loan subject to officers checking the council's position on this on the day of the Full Council meeting.

**Recommendation:** The council pay off the full public works loan (c£287,000) in January 2024 subject to officers checking the council's position on the day of the Full Council meeting. The draft Budget to be updated to reflect this, ready for the Full Council meeting.

### 342/23 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL):

### a) To note factsheet from Wiltshire Council on when CIL receipts will be paid to town and parish councils and what it can be spent on.

Members noted the factsheet from Wiltshire Council on what CIL can be spent on and when CIL receipts will be paid to town and parish councils. The Clerk explained that Wiltshire Council's policy on CIL receipts has been factored into the budget.

### b) To note CIL income received in 2023/24 and agree potential CIL income figure to include for 2024/25.

Members were reminded that as there was a joint Melksham Neighbourhood Plan, the council received 25% of CIL for developments in the parish; however, 10% of this is allocated into a sharing pot with Melksham Town Council for joint projects agreed by both parties. This is clearly shown as a separate column on the CIL spreadsheet.

In May 2023 the council received £1,200.78 for an erection of a dwelling on land adjacent to 1 Eden Grove in Whitley. The parish council's share of the funding was £720.47 with £480.31 being allocated into the CIL 10% sharing pot.

At the time of budget setting last year, the council had some visibility of CIL coming in for land at Semington Road, now known as Buckley Gardens in this financial year. This was because the development had to start on site within a year of the reserved matters decision. The CIL had been estimated based on similar size developments in the parish as the application was not at the reserve matters stage at the time; therefore, the accurate amount of CIL due could not be calculated by Wiltshire Council. The CIL for this development has now been calculated and Wiltshire Council has confirmed that the first tranche is due to be paid to the parish council in January 2024. As per Wiltshire Council's CIL payment policy, 30% of CIL is payable within 60 days of commencement of the development. It was noted that the CIL for this development will be received in three tranches as detailed in Wiltshire Council's policy. The total amount due in January 2024 for the first tranche of CIL is £82,327.16 with the parish council's share being £49,396.30 and £32,930.87 being allocated into the sharing pot.

The council received notification from Wiltshire Council on 4th January that they would be receiving some CIL for the demolition of 63 Shaw Hill and replacement with three detached four-bedroom homes (19/00221/FUL). The CIL set to be received in January 2024 for this small development was £900. Although members were made aware of this income, it had not been included in the spreadsheet that was reviewed at the meeting; however, it was agreed that officers would include this in the spreadsheet to show the true expected income for this year.

**POST MEETING NOTE:** Following this meeting, officers calculated the CIL for the above small development, and noted that this was only 15% of CIL, not 25%. This was queried with Wiltshire Council who have come back to say that this should have been payable at 25%, and the outstanding amount due would be paid in February 2024. This means that the parish council's share will be £900 and £600 will be allocated to the sharing pot, which gives a total of £1,500 payable for this development.

CIL income anticipated to year end 2023/24 (parish councils 15%)	
Land adjacent 1 Eden Grove, Whitley, SN12 8QJ (PL/2023/00625)	£ 720.47*
Land at Semington Road known as Buckley Gardens (PL/2022/02749)	£49,396.30
63 Shaw Hill, Shaw (19/00221/FUL)	£ 900.00
	£51,016.77
Cll income enticipated to year and 2022/24 for 100/ Sharing not	

<u>CIL income anticipated to year end 2023/24 for 10% Sharing pot</u>	
Land adjacent 1 Eden Grove, Whitley, SN12 8QJ (PL/2023/00625)	£ 480.31*
Land at Semington Road known as Buckley Gardens (PL/2022/02749)	£32,930.87
63 Shaw Hill, Shaw (19/00221/FUL)	£ 600.00
	£34.011.18

### Total amount of CIL Income expected to year end 2023/24 £85,027.95

\*Is income that has already been received in this financial year.

The rest of the income detailed above is anticipated based on the fact that the council will receive it in the early part of 2024; therefore, in the current financial year.

There are a few small developments in the parish that have planning permission and are CIL payable; however, they are yet to start on site. The parish council has already set a principle that if it cannot be foreseen when the CIL will be payable to the council, the income will not be shown in the CIL spreadsheet until more viability can be ascertained. As such, the following developments have not been included in the budgeted figures for this year or next:

(21/01765/FUL) The Barn and Store at Upper Beanacre Farmyard- Replacement of barn & store with 2 chalet bungalows	£2,578.19
(PL/2021/07622) 486A Semington Road- New Dwelling	£1,584.95
(PL/2022/08848) Barns South of Upper Beanacre Farmyard, Beanacre, SN12 7PZ- Replacement of barn and store with 2 no. chalets bungalows	£ 826.06
(PL/2022/06187) Land East of Forest Lane, Lacock, SN15 2PN- Full planning application for an agricultural worker's dwelling	£3,304.23
(PL/2023/06990) 26 Shaw Hill, Shaw, Melksham, SN12 8EU- Proposed erection of three-bedroom dwelling with associated works, to land next to 26 Shaw Hill, Shaw, Wiltshire.	£3,041.40

The small developments detailed above are liable to pay 25% of CIL to the council; therefore, 2/5 (10% of overall CIL paid to Wiltshire Council) of the figures above will be allocated into the CIL sharing pot once the income has been received.

In the 2024/25 financial year it is anticipated that the parish council will receive the second tranche of the CIL funds for the Buckley Garden development (Land at Semington Road). The total amount of CIL expected in the 2024/25 financial year for this development is £96,048.35.

<u>CIL income estimated to year end 2024/25 (parish council's 15% share)</u> Land at Semington Road known as Buckley Gardens (PL/2022/02749)

£57,629.01 £57,629.01

CIL income anticipated to year end 2024/25 for 10% Sharing pot	
Land at Semington Road known as Buckley Gardens (PL/2022/02749)	<u>£38,419.34</u>
	£38,419.34

#### Total amount of CIL Income expected to year end 2024/25 £96,048.35

The Clerk highlighted to members that the agreement for the 10% CIL sharing pot was a reciprocal one between the parish and town council. While the parish council had a separate reserve for the 10% share of the CIL, it didn't appear that Melksham Town Council had the same arrangements in their accounting records. The Clerk advised that she had briefly looked at the town council's finance committee agenda pack that had recently been published and noted that whilst the town council had a CIL reserve, there was not any other reserve listed for the 10% share of CIL. This would suggest that the CIL has been put into one reserve and not split out as per the agreement in place. Members expressed concern about this, as this may mean that the town council unknowingly spend CIL income that should have been allocated to the 10% sharing pot for joint projects as agreed by both councils. Equally, CIL must be spent within five years of it being received; otherwise, it has to be returned to Wiltshire Council, so all parties need to be aware of how much CIL is available for joint projects so that its expenditure can be planned accordingly.

Similarly, for the Shurnhold Fields car park improvement project there did not seem to be a specific reserve earmarked for this project. Both the town and parish council are to pay 50% towards this project and the town council had recently confirmed that they had funds in place for this project.

The Clerk confirmed that the money transferred to the town council for the East of Melksham Development was held in a separate reserve. There was also a query about whether any interest accrued on money held for joint projects was put back into the project funds. The Clerk advised that this had been a query that had come up at the Shurnhold Fields meeting regarding the S106 maintenance contribution that the parish council were holding in reserves. While this was quite difficult to calculate due to the council putting money away for different terms etc, this was something that could be investigated. The Clerk did suggest to the town council that if the parish council was to feed interest received back into the Shurnhold Fields maintenance reserve, the parish council would expect this to be reciprocated for funds they held for joint projects.

There were concerns raised that the East of Melksham Community Centre project did not appear to be moving forward at this time, and as discussed above, CIL had to be paid back if it was not used within a certain timeframe. Members reviewed the legal agreement on the CIL transferred to Melksham Town Council for the specific use of the East of Melksham Community Centre. Upon looking at the agreement, it was noted that if the parish council requested the money back as the project had not progressed within 3 years, it would be plus any interest accrued from the c£315k that was transferred to the town council. This means that any interest that has been accrued on this money must be

put back into the pot for the project. The Clerk advised that looking at the town council's current reserve list, it did not appear that any interest was being put back into the reserve for this project.

**Recommendation 1:** To request a meeting with Melksham Town Council to discuss the use of the CIL sharing pot for joint projects.

**Recommendation 2:** To make the town council aware that, as per the legal agreement in place for the money transferred over to the East of Melksham Community Centre, interest accrued from these funds should be allocated back into this project reserve in the event that the parish council requests that the fund be transferred back to them.

**Recommendation 3**: Officers investigate allocating interest accrued on money held by the parish council for joint projects with the town council.

### c) To note parish council's agreed uses of CIL and to consider more project specific spend for current and next financial year

It was noted that all of the expenditure included in the CIL spreadsheet were based on principles that the council had already set for the CIL spend. Unlike funding such as s106 where the money has to be spent within the development, CIL monies do not need to be spent in the area of the development it came from. As CIL was a finite amount and had to be spent within 5 years of receipt it is much better for it to be used on one off capital items rather than for ongoing maintenance which solar farm funding was more suited to as had longevity.

For the 2023/24 financial year, it is expected that for LHFIG schemes (Local Highway and Footway Improvement group) £4,581 will be spent. This is for the A350 Beanacre weight limit of £500, Bowerhill dropped kerbs £3,226.37 and Bowerhill Portal Road gate £855.40. For the next financial year, £10,300 has been anticipated to be spent on LHFIG schemes. Members were presented with a list of requests at the meeting and agreed to put provisions in the budget for the following: waiting restriction requests on various roads, A350 gateway and resurfacing/ road markings Berryfield Lane. The requests will go on the Highways agenda next week for the council to consider the schemes further.

In the 2024/25 financial year it is expected that the Shurnhold Fields car park and entrance improvement project will take shape. Although most of the spending for the project is coming out of the Shurnhold Fields capital reserve, £2,500 has been shown as coming from CIL.

A few years ago, the council purchased a drinking water fountain for the Bowerhill Sports Field which came from CIL; however, there had been some issues with the installation of the fountain so it was unable to be installed at that time. Following many obstacles to it being installed, in this financial year the council was able to arrange for it to be installed in December. The cost of the installation was £875 which has been shown as being spent from CIL. Although the spend for the installation was not directly a capital item as per the above principles set by the parish council, it has always been the intention of the parish council for the installation of the fountain to come from CIL. Wiltshire Council have a policy of not replacing any of their destroyed or damaged bins; therefore, the parish council have agreed that they will replace bins on request as long as they can still be emptied on Wiltshire Council's bin emptying schedule. In the current financial year, £1,000 is being shown as being spent from CIL for the replacement of Wiltshire Council bins.

Following consultation with the residents and other users of Bowerhill Sports Field, the parish council are looking at putting some gym and calisthenics equipment on the field and will be applying to Suez for some grant funding. The budget cost following a an estimate obtained in mid 2023 has been uplifted to reflect inflation, and a grant application is expected to be for some £19,375 for 50%. The 50% match funding has been shown as coming from CIL rather than Precept as part of the post meeting double check of the spreadsheet calculations.

**Recommendation 1:** The parish council revise their original budgeted spend from CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy) for 2023/24 to be as follows:

	2023/24 Budget Provision (agreed Jan 2023)	2023/24 anticipated expenditure (up to 31.03.24)
Contribution to LHFIG schemes Shurnhold Fields Capital project Replacement of Wiltshire Council bir Drinking Water Fountain Installation	£10,000 £ 3,500 ns £ 2,000 £ 0	£4,581 £ 0 £1,000 £ 875
	<u>£15.500</u>	<u>£6.456</u>

**Recommendation 2:** The parish council spend from CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy) for 2024/25 to be as follows:

#### 2024/25 Budgeted Expenditure

Contribution to LHFIG schemes	£10,300
Shurnhold Fields Capital project	£ 2,500
<b>Bowerhill Sports Field enhancement</b>	£20,000
	£32,800

The balance of CIL funds at the end of each financial year is put into a Reserve as the funds are restricted to funding community infrastructure only and to aid tracking the expenditure, which has to be annually reported to Wiltshire Council. Transfers from the CIL Reserve have been made to other earmarked Reserves, as detailed below.

Total in CIL reserve at end of 2022/23 Expected CIL income for 2023/24	£ 26,571.51 £ 85,027.95
TOTAL	£111,599.46
Anticipated Expenditure from CIL for 2023/24	£ 6,456.00

Transfer CIL into dedicated project/ ringfenced re CIL Sharing with MTC Reserve (extra 10% CIL due to NHP)	<u>serve</u> £ 33,411.18 (Transfer 11)
Berryfield Village Hall reserve	£ 13,952.80 (Transfer 10)
TOTAL in CIL reserve at end of 2023/24	£ 57,779.33
Total in CIL reserve at end of 2023/24 CIL income anticipated for 2024/25 <b>TOTAL</b>	£ 57,779.33 £ 96,048.35 <b>£152,327.85</b>
Anticipated expenditure from CIL for 2024/25	£ 32,800.00
Transfer CIL into dedicated project/ ringfenced re CIL Sharing with MTC Reserve (extra 10% CIL due to NHP)	<u>serve</u> £ 38,419.34 (Transfer 13)
Total in CIL reserve at the end of 2024/25	£ 82,608.34

**Note:** Transfer 12 is shown on the CIL spreadsheet for CIL to transfer into the Berryfield Village Hall reserve; however, as members recommended at the meeting to pay off the loan early there is no requirement to move any more CIL into this reserve. The transfer is therefore showing as £0.

d) To review terms of legal agreement on CIL transferred to Melksham Town Council for East of Melksham Community Centre due to passage of time, and agree any appropriate next steps.

This item was discussed under agenda item 8b.

### 343/23 Solar Farm Community Funding:

# a) To note correspondence with owners of Sandridge Solar Farm about future community benefit funds

### i) Trigger for changes to calculation

Members noted the correspondence from Foresight, the owners of Sandridge Solar Farm about what triggers a recalculation of the amount the parish council receive. It had previously been understood that the income received fluctuated depending on the number of dwellings inside the radius of the solar farm which made it quite difficult to estimate at budget setting as in different parishes. Foresight has clarified that this is only recalculated when there is a boundary change, not if new houses have been built within a current boundary.

# ii) Response (if received) to request to extend fund from 25 to 40 years in line with request for planning permission amendment

No response has been received on this item.

### b) To agree appropriate potential income figure for 2024/25:

Members noted that the income received from Sandridge Solar Farm in 2023/24 was  $\pounds 17,547.41$ . As per the information received under agenda item 9ai with regards to how the solar farm figure is calculated, the council now have a better idea of how much funding they will receive from the Sandridge Solar Farm for 2024/25. As there is no boundary change, members agreed that the estimated income figure should be the same as received in 2023/24 which was  $\pounds 17,547$ .

**Recommendation:** The council budget £17,547 of income coming in from the Sandridge Solar Farm for 2024/25.

#### c) To consider spend of Solar Farm funding for current and next financial year:

Members were reminded that the council has already set out principles to spend solar farm funding on the maintenance/running costs of items as this is a long-term funding stream, for example, safety surfacing cleaning and the erection of the speed indicator device. Some time ago, the council agreed that although the Falcon Way bus shelter was a capital item, the cost of this should come out of solar farm funding. This was because it fell within the 2.75km radius of the solar farm, so it was a good candidate to come from the funding stream.

**Recommendation:** The following spend from Sandridge Solar Farm to be on the following:

Balance brought forward from 31st March 2023	£36,441.61
Amount received in 2023/24	£17,547.41
<b>TOTAL FUND AVAILABLE</b>	<b>£53,989.02</b>
Anticipated spend in 2023/24 Safety surfacing clean for play areas & MUGAs Tree Inspections and resulting tree work Roundabout grass cutting and maintenance (ex Carsons Tyres) Weedspraying Speed Indicator Device	£ 2,868.00 £ 1,786.00 £ 1,089.00 £ 3,438.00 £ 1,205.00
Street Furniture	£ 2,000.00
TOTAL SPEND IN 2023/24	£12,386.00
Anticipated balance as at 31st March 2024	£41,603.02
Anticipated receipt in 2024/25	£17,547.00
TOTAL FUNDS AVAILABLE	£59,150.02

Speed Indicator Device Play Area resurfacing and repairs Street Furniture	£ 5,200.00 £20,000.00 £ 3,000.00
TOTAL SPEND IN 2024/25	£51,100.00
Anticipated balance as at 31st March 2025	£ 8.050.02

### d) To consider correspondence received re Melksham Battery Storage community fund (installations off Westlands Lane, Beanacre) and agree next steps

The Clerk reported that she had received some correspondence back following her query regarding the community benefit funding for the Melksham Battery storage. Gresham House Energy Storage Fund plc had confirmed that they would honour the community benefit agreement in place with the original company Stratera; however, due to there being delays in the project, this is now expected to connect to the Grid in spring 2024. As it is currently unknown when the funding will be transferred to the parish council, this has not been shown as income coming in for 2024/25.

# e) To note timing for solar farm community benefit fund for proposed Beanare solar farm (Wick Farm)

No response from the solar farm had been received, and so no income shown in 2024/25.

### 344/23 Reserves:

### a) To review Financial Reserves Policy

Members reviewed the reserves policy and did not feel that any changes or amendments needed to be made.

**Recommendation**: To adopt the reserves policy.

# b) To consider contribution to Reserves and spending from Reserves for current and next financial year.

As discussed earlier on in the meeting under agenda item 7, the council are recommending to the Full Council to pay back the whole outstanding public works loan c£287,000 in January 2024. As such this reserve is showing a spend of £357,926 in this financial year. If the whole amount of CIL from Buckley Gardens is moved to this reserve (T10 Transfer) it leaves a large amount in the Berryfield Village Hall reserve, and so this has been adjusted leaving the reserve standing at £4,400 at the end of this financial year. In the next financial year, there is no expenditure expected to come out of this reserve; therefore, it stands at £4,400. This figure was chosen to replicate the amount in the Shaw Village Hall Reserve which is the other

Village Hall that the parish council owns and leases to a management committee. As a brand new building it is not expected to require funds from a Reserve in imminent years, and its noted that CIL Reserve was healthy is additional funds were required.

There have not been any further funds put into the Shaw Village Hall Reserve for the next financial year so this stood at £4,400.

The parish council purchased a new photocopier this year so the £1,200 that was in the reserve at the start of the year has been shown as spent which leaves £0 in the reserve at year end. For the next financial year, no further funds have been put in the reserve as it is not anticipated that the council will require a new photocopier for some time, so this remains at £0 at the end of the 2024/25 year and the reserve can now be closed down.

The Bowerhill Sports Field long term capital reserve shows £7,958 as being spent in this financial year, which is for the replacement water tank base, hot water return pump replacements and replacement water heater control panels. This leaves a balance of £39,505.57 in the reserve at year end. For the next financial year no funds have been shown as going into the reserve; however, £2,000 is being shown as being spent. This is for any repairs and maintenance that may be required on the building during the year as it is now 9 years old.

For the current financial year,  $\pounds$ 6,385 is being shown as spent from the Bowerhill Sports Field Maintenance reserve which is for the parish council's share of the new moveable goal posts as well as fertilising and spiking the pitches during the year. For next year £2,000 is being shown as spent which is for ditch improvement work on the field to improve the waterlogging on the middle pitch.

The replacement play area and safety surfacing reserve stands at £40,000 at the 2023/24 year end as there is no anticipated expenditure. In the 2024/25 year £20,000 is being shown as spent from the reserve which is for the replacement Beanacre Play Area wooden equipment and safety surfacing.

The Shurnhold Fields car park and improvement project is not expected to be undertaken in the current financial year; therefore, this reserve still stands at £10,000 at year end. In the next financial year, it is expected that the car park and entrance improvement project will be undertaken; therefore, £10,000 is being shown as spent from the reserve leaving nothing in the reserve at the end of 2024/25.

There have been no further funds put into the recreation and sports facility enhancement reserve in this financial year or next, so this still stood at £6,000.

No further funds have been put into the defibrillator replacement reserve for this year or next year. The defibrillators are expected to last longer than anticipated; therefore, they are not expected to be replaced in the next financial year so this reserve still stood at £10,850 at the end of the next financial year.

No further funds have been allocated to the general highway and footpath reserve in the next financial year so this stood at £4,000.

It is expected that there will be a whole host of legal fees in the current financial year as explained under budget expenditure. For this year £3,000 has been shown as coming out of the reserve, which leaves £2,006.21 in the reserve at year end. In the next financial year, £3,000 has been shown coming into the reserve to top it back up following the expected expenditure in the previous year. This leaves £5,006.21 in the reserve at the end of 2024/25.

In the current financial year, £3,700 has been shown as being spent from the community projects and match funding reserve which is for the match funding given to the Shaw and Whitley Community Hub for additional fees associated with the shop which has been explained under budget expenditure. As there was a surplus budget left under grants, £6,310 has been shown as coming into the reserve, leaving it standing at £8,375.67 at year end. For next year no further funds have been put into the reserve or shown as coming out so it still stands at £8,375.67 at the end of 2024/25 financial year.

For this financial year  $\pounds$ 767.00 has been shown as coming from the elections reserve, this is for the uncontested Bowerhill ward election leaving the reserve standing at  $\pounds$ 13,233 at year end. For the next financial year, nothing is being shown as coming in and out of the reserve; therefore, it still stands at  $\pounds$ 13,233 at the end of 2024/25.

The Staffing contingency reserve is for any unexpected staffing expenditure during the year. Following the NJC (National Joint Council) pay negotiations all staff received an additional £1 per hour on their scale points. This increase had not been budgeted for at this level, and increases recommended from the 18<sup>th</sup> December Staffing Committee meeting have also been taken into account, so £9,000 has been shown as coming from the reserve this year, leaving the reserve at £463.34 at year end. In the next financial year, £10,000 has been shown as coming into the reserve to top it back up, which leaves the reserve at £10,463.34 at the end of the next financial year.

The Replacement of Council Assets (contingency) reserve is for the replacement of assets as well as for items that have not been insured such as benches and bins. Nothing is being shown as going in or out of the reserve in the current year; therefore, the reserve stands at £28,471 at year end. For the 2024/25 year £6,000 has been shown as spent from the reserve which is for the replacement Beanacre wooden bus shelter, leaving the reserve at £22,471 at the end of the year.

No funds have been added to the general contingency reserve in the current year; however, £12,486 has been shown as being spent from the reserve. As the photocopier cost more than what was in the photocopier reserve, the additional cost has come from the reserve as well as a new laptop for a new councillor and microwave agreed to be purchased for the office. Other costs coming out of the reserve for the year are the remainder of the staffing contingency cost increase and costs associated with the allotment and asset databases being created. There is also £6,072 of Neighbourhood Plan expenditure so this is also coming from the reserve as previously approved. This leaves the reserve standing at £17,756.77 at year end. No funds are being shown as coming in or out of the reserve in the next financial year.

In the CIL reserve, it shows £85,027.95 as coming into the reserve in the current year with £6,456 being shown as being spent from the reserve which was for all of the spending shown under CIL expenditure. There are also two transfers being shown as

coming out of the reserve, which is £13,958.80 being moved to the Berryfield Village Hall reserve (transfer T10) and £34,011.18 moving to the 10% CIL sharing pot reserve (transfer T11). In the next financial year, £96,048.35 has been confirmed by Wiltshire Council to date and is being shown as coming into the reserve with £38,419.34 being transferred to the CIL 10% sharing pot (transfer 13).

The 10% CIL sharing pot with Melksham Town Council shows a balance of  $\pounds$ 34,011.18 being transferred this year (transfer T11). For next year £38,419.34 is shown as being transferred into the reserve (transfer T13) which is the share from the Buckley Garden development. Shown as being spent is £20,200 which is for real time information being put into three bus shelters. This will leave the reserve sitting at £56,753.83 at year end.

For this year the Sandridge Solar Farm reserve is showing £17,547.41 as coming into the reserve, which is income that has been received in this financial year. The expected spend on solar farm funding for the year is £12,386. For next year £17,547 has been shown as income coming into the reserve with £51,100 showing as spend. Following information received from the solar farm, the share of the fund is only recalculated if there is a boundary change; therefore, it is much easier to determine how much the council will receive each year.

Money held in the Shurnhold Fields maintenance reserve is ringfenced from a s106 agreement for the maintenance of the field and is held by the parish council on behalf of the joint project with Melksham Town Council. There is no funding coming into the reserve this year or next, but there is expected expenditure of £9,877 this year and £10,400 next year leaving the reserve standing at £59,731.26 at the end of the 2024/25 year. Expenditure from this reserve can only be used for the maintenance of the field. Any spend required for non maintenance items has to be funded by both the town and parish council. In the next year, it is expected that a shed will be purchased for the field which will come out of the maintenance reserve because it is facilitating the maintenance of the field.

In the last financial year, a new reserve was set up to show potential funding coming in from Wessex Water for some community benefit as compensation for the disruption associated with the mains drainage works undertaken this year. Nothing has been allocated into this reserve for this year or next as rather than providing money, Wessex Water has offered to do the community benefit works themselves such as a wildflower meadow and moving the maintenance access gate to Beanacre Play Area for better access. This reserve to be closed down.

The council had previously set up a reserve to show the grant received from Scottish and Southern Electricity Networks (SSEN) for the emergency planning side of Melksham Community Support, now known as Melksham Emergency Support. For this year the reserve is showing £500 coming out for the project. In the next financial year, £7,861 is being shown as coming out of the reserve for the fridge magnet advertising of the emergency number, which is the rest of the grant funding received leaving the reserve standing at £0 at the end of that year.

In the last financial year, the council set up a reserve for the Berryfield Village Hall public art as it was understood from Wiltshire Council that there was still some money left over from the public art project. Nothing has been shown as coming into the

reserve this year or next as it may be better for any left over funds to be transferred over to the Berryfield Village Hall Trust for maintenance of the artwork. This has been chased with Wiltshire Council but not shown as not agreed, and it could be paid direct to the Village Hall Trust. This reserve to be closed down.

Last year a reserve was set up to show potential funding coming in from CAWS (Community Action Whitley and Shaw) for a third SID (Speed Indicator Device). This project does not appear to be any further forward so no income is being shown as coming in this year or next.

It is expected that the Davey Play Area will be adopted by the parish council in this financial year; therefore, £58,000 from the s106 agreement for the maintenance of the play area is being shown as coming into the reserve this year. The parish council undertake annual ROSPA inspections on all of their play areas and even though this play area was not under the council's ownership at the time of the inspection it was felt it should be undertaken as well to ensure there wasn't anything immediate that need to be actioned before it was handed over to the council. The reserve is showing £176 as coming out of the reserve for the ROSPA inspection. In the next financial year, £180 is being shown as coming out of the reserve for the ROSPA inspection, leaving the reserve at £57,644 at the end of the 2024/25 financial year.

A £20,000 contribution has been secured with David Wilson towards a footbridge between Buckley Gardens and Bowood View to allow easier access to the village hall. This is shown as income in the budget, and coming into a new reserve.

**Recommendation 1:** The parish council put the following into Earmarked Reserves at year end 31st March 2024.

Reserves for major project 2023/24	
Community Projects/Match Funding	£ 6,310.00
CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy) funds received	£ 85,027.95
Sandridge Solar Farm Community Funding	£ 17,547.41
Davey Play Area Maintenance Fund (From s106)	£ 58,000.00
	£166,885.36

**Recommendation 2:** The parish council put the following into Ear Marked Reserves for the year 2024/25.

Reserves for major project 2024/25	
Legal fees	£ 3,000.00
Staffing Contingency	£ 10,000.00
CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy) funds received	£ 96,048.35
Sandridge Solar Farm Community Funding	£ 17,547.00
Footbridge from Buckley Gardens to Bowood View	<u>£_20,000.00</u>
	£146,595.35

Members reviewed the spend from Earmarked reserves as they went through the individual line items on the budget spreadsheet. For more detailed information on the spend from reserves please refer to that section of the budget review.

**Recommendation 3:** The parish council spend the following amounts from Earmarked Reserves in 2023/24.

Spending from Reserves 2023/24	2023/24 Budget Spend (agreed Jan 23)	2023/24 Anticipated Expenditure (up to 31/03/24)
New Hall, Berryfield	£ 114,741.03	£357,926.00
Photocopier Replacement	£ 1,200.00	£ 1,200.00
B'hillSports Field & Pavilion long term capital	£ 0.00	£ 7,958.00
B'hillSports Field & Pavilion maintenance	£ 0.00	£ 6,385.00
Legal Fees	£ 0.00	£ 3,000.00
Community Match funding	£ 0.00	£ 3,700.00
Elections	£ 0.00	£ 767.00
Staffing Contingency	£ 0.00 £ 0.00	£ 9,000.00
General Contingency		£ 12,486.00
Replacement Play Area Safety Surfacing	£ 5,000.00	£ 0.00
& Equipment Capital Replacement		
Shurnhold Fields Capital Replacement	£ 10,000.00	£ 0.00
Defibrillator Replacement	£ 10,850.00	£ 0.00
Replacement/ renewal of council assets	£ 2,000.00	£ 0.00
CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy)	£ 15,500.00	£ 6,456.00
Sandridge Solar Farm	£ 32,776.00	£ 12,386.00
Shurnhold Fields Open Space Maintenance	£ 2,000.00	£ 9,877.00
SSEN Ringfenced reserve for Melksham	£ 680.50	£ 500.00
Emergency Response		
NEW Reserve SID 3	£ 2,500.00	£ 0.00
Davey Play Area	<u>£ 176.00</u>	<u>£ 176.00</u>
	£206,703.53	£431,817.00

**Recommendation 4:** The parish council spend the following amounts from Earmarked Reserves in 2024/25:

Bowerhill Sports Field & Pavilion long term capital replacement	£ 2,000.00
Bowerhill Sports Field & Pavilion maintenance	£ 2,000.00
Replacement Play Area Safety Surfacing & Equipment	£ 20,000.00
Shurnhold Fields Capital	£ 10,000.00
Replacement/ renewal of council assets	£ 6,000.00
CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy)	£ 32,800.00
10% CIL sharing pot with MTC	£ 20,200.00
Sandridge Solar Farm	£ 51,100.00
Shurnhold Fields Maintenance	£ 10,400.00
SSEN Ringfenced reserve for MCS in Emergency Plan	£ 7,861.00
Davey Play Area	<u>£ 180.00</u>
	£162,541.00

**Recommendation 5:** The parish council transfer the following amounts between Earmarked Reserves in 2023/24 & 2024/25:

Transfer T10- Move £13,952.18 from CIL to Berryfield Village Hall reserve in 2023/24.

Transfer T11- Move £33,411.18 from CIL to the 10% sharing pot CIL reserve in 2023/24

Transfer T13- Move £38,419.34 from CIL to the 10% sharing pot CIL reserve in 2024/25

Summary of Reserves	
Opening Balance of Reserves as at 01/04/2023	£742,809.92
Revised Reserves for Major Projects 2023/24	£166,885.36
Revised Spending from Reserves 2023/24	<u>-£431,817.00</u>
Total Reserves at end of 2023/24	£478,477.66
Opening Balance of Reserves as at 01/04/2024	£478,477.66
Reserves for Major Projects 2024/25	£146,595.35
Spending from Reserves 2024/25	-£162,541.00
Total Reserves at end of 2024/25	£462,532.01

### 345/23 Budget:

# a) To review and consider Budget for 2023/2024 against anticipated position at year end; and estimate for 2024/2025.

Members reviewed the anticipated income and expenditure until year end for the current financial year and the proposals for the financial year 2024/25.

### <u>Income</u>

The council had originally budgeted £395,488.50 of income coming in for this financial year, which was fairly in line with the expected income of £455,631.95 for the year (figures include the precept). In the current financial year, more bank interest is expected to come in than originally anticipated due to the council receiving higher interest rates on fixed term deposits. In December 2023, the council also agreed to put funds into the CCLA Public Sector Deposit Fund (PSDF), which is expected to be opened in the current year and has a higher rate of interest than what banks currently have to offer. The council had originally estimated that £2,500 in interest would come in this year; however, £12,900 is now expected to come in.

The anticipated CIL income for the year is slightly more than what was expected at budget setting, this was because at the time the figure for the CIL income for the Buckley Garden development was unable to be calculated due to it not being at reserved matter stage at the time. As a result, the figure had to be estimated based on what the council had received previously for similar size developments. The budgeted amount for CIL for the 2023/24 financial year was £50,000 and the amount expected at year end is now £85,027.95. This is a combination of the first tranche of CIL for the Buckley Garden development due in January 2024 and some CIL for small sized developments either received during the year or expected to come in. For the 2024/25 financial year, the council are expecting to receive £96,048.35 of CIL which is the second tranche from the Buckley Gardens development.

For section 106 contributions, £20,000 was budgeted as income from the Buckley Garden development for a footbridge from this development to the existing Bowood

View site; however, this was still unknown at this time and is now shown as coming in 204/25. There is a playing field contribution of £11,800 due from the Townsend Farm development, which was expected this year, but has now been budgeted to come in the 2024/25 financial year. The £58,000 of s106 funding for the maintenance of Davey Play Area was expected to come in the previous financial year; however, due to delays with remedial work and confirmation around maintenance access to the play area, this had not been transferred to the parish council yet. It is expected to come in the current financial year and is the only amount showing in the estimated year end column.

Under the solar farm budget heading it was anticipated that in the current year, £27,000 of income would be received which was £15,000 coming in from JBM Solar projects for Wick Solar Farm in Beanacre and £12,000 coming in from Sandridge Solar Farm. Despite chasing the deed of gift for the Wick Solar Farm the council currently have no visibility as to when this project will be starting. As a result, the council have not included this amount in the expected year end for this year or next year. For Sandridge Solar Farm the council received £17,547 this year which was higher than originally anticipated. As explained earlier on in the meeting under Sandridge Solar Farm, the council had received clarification that the income was only recalculated if there was a boundary change; therefore, the council were now in a better position to estimate how much they should be expecting each year. For the 2024/25 financial year £17,547 has been estimated as coming in, which was on par with what had been received this financial year.

For this year the council had received £3,000 under grants and donations which was from a generous donation for the Pathfinder Way defibrillator. Originally budgeted for the year was £12,500 which was funds estimated for the possible grant funding for the Bowerhill Sports Field Enhancement project which hasn't been applied for yet and is not expected in this financial year. The other item that had originally been budgeted for was a donation from CAWS (Community Action Whitley and Shaw) for a third speed indicator device; however, this hasn't moved forward so has not been included in the expected year end for this year or the budgeted income for 2024/25. For next year £3,000 has been budgeted which is a generous donation from a resident towards a new defibrillator to be located outside of Bowerhill Village Hall as well as some grant funding towards the project.

Payments received from Melksham Town Council for joint projects such as the Neighbourhood Plan and Shurnhold Fields are unable to be netted off the expenditure; therefore, must be shown as income on the accounting system. The council had anticipated that the Shurnhold Fields car park and entrance enhancement project was going to commence in this financial year; therefore, had budgeted for the town council's 50% share towards this to come in this year. It is now anticipated that this will be in the 2024/25 financial year and £12,500 has been shown as the expected income towards the project with the expenditure being shown under the Shurnhold Fields capital expenditure heading.

The council received £5,000 of Area Board grant funding towards the commission of a senior support project worker which is being overseen by Wiltshire Age UK which is a joint project between the town and parish council. This is a follow on from the Melksham Community Support project which was started up during covid to help improve the wellbeing and provide support to older people living in the town and

parish. As this is a joint project, 50% of the grant (£2,500) was transferred over to Melksham Town Council, which will be detailed under expenditure.

The income for the Bowerhill Sports Field is higher than originally expected for the financial year, this was due to the fact that at budget setting for this year, the council wished to be cautious when estimating this income as it was unknown how many hirers the sports field would have this year. The council also increased their hire charges by 10% this year, which was unknown at budget setting, and has contributed to the overall increase in income. It is now expected that £11,120 will be received from football bookings in this financial year which took into consideration the weekend blanket booking the youth organisation has with the council as well as the adult match bookings. The council applied to the Football Foundation this year for funding towards new moveable goalposts to improve the facilities at the sports field and were successful in getting 50% of the funding, which is shown under the sports field cost centre. The expenditure for the goal posts purchased will be shown under the sports field expenditure section. For the 2024/25 financial year £11,200 has been budgeted for football bookings which is on par with the expected income for the current financial year. The council on an annual basis review their hire charges for the sports field which will be a task to do later in the year, so it may mean that the hire charges are increased; however, this is currently unknown at this time so it cannot be taken into account at budget setting. Also, for the 2024/25 financial year, the council are looking to apply for some grant funding towards improving drainage at the field; therefore, £1,875 has been budgeted as coming in for this.

The allotment income was estimated at £2,882 by year end for this year, which was similar to what had originally been budgeted. The same amount has been budgeted for the 2024/25 financial year; however, it is always difficult to budget as it cannot be foreseen whether a tenant will relinguish their plot during the year nor whether a resident or non-resident of the parish (who are charged at double the residential rate) will let the plot. The allotment year runs from 1st October until 30th September each year, so falls within two financial years. As a result, accruals are made at year end transferring 50% of the amount received into the next financial year.

#### General Account Income (Excluding Precept):

Budgeted for 2023/24	£141,570.00
Anticipated for 2023/24	£194,483.95
Proposed for 2024/25	£199,405.35

#### Jubilee Sports Field Income:

Budgeted for 2023/24	£	6,135.00
Anticipated for 2023/24	£	13,595.00
Proposed for 2024/25	£	13,225.00

#### Allotment Income:

TOTAL PROPOSED INCOME FOR 2024/25:		
£	2,882.00	
£	2,882.00	
£	2,512.50	
	£ £	£ 2,512.50 £ 2,882.00 £ 2,882.00

### **Expenditure:**

It was noted that the parish council's Expenditure used the following budget headings to reflect the information included with residents' Council Tax bills, namely; Administration, Parish Amenities, Community Support.

#### Administration Costs:

Postage costs are slightly more than budgeted for this year due to the cost of stamps increasing by £0.30 for a first-class stamp, which was unforeseen at budget setting. The anticipated cost for the year is now £840. The council has moved to paperless agenda packs for most councillors, which has reduced the cost of postage on previous years; however, a hard copy agenda pack is still being sent out in the post to one councillor. On occasion, some agenda papers are sent out to councillors in the post if they are big documents, such as the annual budget papers. The council also sends out most weeks agenda and community notices to the noticeboard volunteers and, on an annual basis, the allotment rent renewal letters. For the 2024/25 financial year, £840 has been budgeted, which is the same as the expected expenditure for the current year. It is not expected that the council will increase the amount of postage that is sent out in the next financial year. Photocopying costs for the year are higher than anticipated at the time of budget setting, with the anticipated spend being £990. As explained above, the council has reduced the amount of paper; however, there are still items that need to be printed out, so the council is unable to go completely paperless. Officers have looked at reducing the costs of photocopying during the year, especially for coloured printing, as those costs much more per copy than a black and white copy. The council has also purchased a new photocopier this year, and as a result, the photocopying costs are lower than previously. For next year £780 has been budgeted for photocopying, which is a reduction on what the expected year end spend for this year is. This is because the costs associated with the new photocopier have been factored into the figure.

It was estimated that costs for admin and stationery for the year would be £500; however, costs associated with this are forecast to be higher at £800. A lot of the cost under this heading is for the purchase of paper. The council purchases the A4 paper locally to be more environmentally friendly and receives a cost reduction from them if the paper is purchased in bulk. As some paper has recently been ordered, it is expected that this should last until the next financial year. Other items, such as the gusseted envelopes for agenda packs, are also a high expenditure item which comes out of this cost code, as well as coloured paper for the notices and posters. For the 2024/25 year, £800 has been budgeted for this expenditure heading, as it is not anticipated that the council will be doing anything else above what is already being done to increase the costs.

The expected IT support costs for the year are higher than budgeted for at £700, due to the fact that the council approved for the IT contractor to create an allotment and asset management database. For some time now the council has been looking for an asset management package that can hold the asset register as it is currently held on a spreadsheet, and due to its size, it would be much better to have it on a database. The £500 cost associated with the databases is to come out of the general

contingency reserve as it was not budgeted for at the time of budget setting for this financial year. For the next year £200 was budgeted for IT support during the year. Advertising for the year is anticipated to be much lower than anticipated at £150, this is due to the council only anticipating that there will be two grant adverts and a councillor co-option advert until year end. For next year the anticipated spend is £150 which is for the grant adverts. Similarly, costs associated with the quarterly newsletter are a lot lower this year than originally anticipated at £500 which is for one newsletter. For the 2024/25 financial year £2,280 has been budgeted which is based on four newsletters.

During the year as expected, the council replaced the photocopier; however, the cost was higher than anticipated under the equipment and furniture budget heading. The council originally budgeted £1,200 which was coming from the photocopier reserve, but the true cost of the photocopier was £2,087. Other expenditure expected out of this heading is for three keyboards for officers and a microwave which the council had approved for the Campus meeting room. As there was an overspend in this budget heading the £1,650 is to come out of the general contingency reserve. The council do not expect to purchase any new equipment or furniture in the next financial year; therefore, no budget has been allocated under this budget heading.

The council is expecting legal costs associated with solicitor fees for the freehold of Kestrel Court and Berryfield Play Area, as well as fees for the advertisement of the public open space notices for these play areas in this financial year. There will also be fees associated with the transfer of the Davey Play Area as well as the Shaw Village Hall lease. There is an action for officers to register Shaw Village Hall with the land registry, so there will be costs associated with this registration. To year-end, £3,000 has been budgeted, which is to come from the legal cost reserve. For the 2024/25 financial year, no costs have been budgeted under this heading as the council has no visibility for any legal or professional service next year, and any expenditure of this nature would come from the legal cost reserve in any case, not from the precept.

The council are now in their second year of a 10-year lease with Wiltshire Council for the council office and meeting room space. It was agreed that the rent for each year of the lease term would be increased by £1,000; however, due to when the parish council moved into the space the annual rent year goes from 1<sup>st</sup> August until 31<sup>st</sup> July each year so runs into two financial years. For the current financial year, the estimated year end figure has been set at £11,706, which is based on four months of rent associated with the first-year term £3,457- and eight-months' worth of rent which relates to the second-year term £8,249. For the 2024/25 year the same logic has been applied, and the estimated rent is £12,040.

Staffing costs for the current year are estimated to be higher than budgeted for, this was due to all staff receiving a £1 increase per hour on their hourly rate following the National Joint Council pay (NJC) negotiations with the unions. At budget setting as it was unknown how much any staff increase would be the council had budgeted for a 2% rise on all staff salaries. Due to the increase being more than what was anticipated employer national insurance and pension contributions are also more than budgeted for. The additional expenditure on staffing will come from the staffing contingency reserve and general contingency reserve. For the 2024/25 year as it was unknown what the NJC negotiations would be, a 5% increase has been estimated on all staff salaries. It was noted that the Staffing Committee made recommendations on

scale point increases for some staff members on 18<sup>th</sup> December 2023 which are waiting for approval from Full Council, but these have been included in the figures for the purpose of the budget. The Caretaker and Allotment Warden salaries are included under the parish amenity section.

Staff training is higher than expected for this year, but the council were made aware of this when they were considering training requests from staff members and agreed to take the expenditure over budget from the staffing contingency reserve. For next year £500 has been budgeted for staff training.

It is estimated that the council will be over budget for staff and volunteer DBS checks which is because the Caretaker, Parish Officer, and Finance & Amenities Officer all have DBS checks due. The other expenditure is for staff and Councillor ID badges which the council have already agreed to purchase. For next year nothing has been budgeted under this heading as there are no DBS checks due.

#### Recommendation 1:

#### Administration Costs (Including office staff):

Budgeted Expenditure for 2023/24£142,618.00 with £ 1,200 coming from reservesAnticipated Expenditure for 2023/24£160,765.00 with £20,381 coming from reservesProposed Expenditure 2024/25£170,543.00

#### Parish Amenities:

In the current year the costs associated with defibrillators are expected to be much lower than budgeted, £12,430 had been budgeted with £4,300 now anticipated to be spent to year end. This was because it was considered at budget setting for the current year that the defibrillators would need to be replaced as they were coming up to eight years old. The expenditure for this would come from the defibrillator reserve; however, following information from Community Heartbeat Trust the defibrillators now have a longer shelf life. As explained under grants and donations income the parish council received a £3,000 donation for the Pathfinder Way defibrillator, so the purchase of this device has been shown under this heading as the income is unable to be netted off against the expenditure so has to be shown separately. The only other expenditure this year is for the annual maintenance costs for all parish defibrillators. For the 2024/25 financial year £3,800 has been shown as expenditure which is for a new defibrillator outside of Bowerhill Village Hall as well as the annual maintenance fees.

Parish insurance was originally budgeted to be £5,234; however, the expected amount for this year is £3,700 so is lower than anticipated. This is because the council were out of their three-year agreement with their insurance provider and; therefore, were able to obtain quotations from other providers. As such, the council agreed on a quotation that was much lower than budgeted and agreed to enter into a three-year agreement with the provider which provides the council with a discount. For next year £3,835 is anticipated for parish insurance which is an increase on the current year as it bears in mind any additional assets purchased in the year that may need to be covered by the insurance.

The estimated year end for play area safety surfacing cleaning is lower than expected this year which is because the council only agreed to undertake one clean. The

council had originally budgeted £4,050 for this provision; however, following reviewing quotations had agreed to a much lower cost. The expected year end figure has; therefore, been reduced to £2,868 for the current year which is to come from solar farm funding. In 2024/25 as per the same principle set for the 2023/24 financial year, £2,900 has been budgeted for one safety surfacing clean to be done during the year, which is to come out of solar farm funding.

The cost for tree inspections and work for this year is slightly lower than anticipated, this was because it was difficult to determine how much work would be required on parish trees following the tree inspection survey undertaken early on in the year. Originally budgeted was £2,300 with the estimated year end being £1,786 which is all to come from solar farm funding. The parish tree inspections are undertaken every 27 months, so that it is always undertaken in different seasons which means that there is no anticipated tree work for the 2024/25 year, so nothing has been budgeted. Any tree work required during the year will come from reserves.

For this year it is anticipated that the council will spend slightly less than budgeted for parish repairs and maintenance, which is mainly because the council were paying for the maintenance of the ex-Carson Tyre sponsored roundabout. The council did hold a section 96 licence for the roundabout which expired in 2021; however, were continuing to maintain it while trying to find sponsorship. Due to the high costs involved in maintaining the roundabout, the council was investigating the possibility of handing it back to Wiltshire Council. Following investigations, it transpired that Wiltshire Council had also issued the section 96 licence for the roundabout to Melksham Town Council which was still current. As a result, the parish council stopped all maintenance of the roundabout immediately. The total expenditure in this year for the roundabout was £1,089 which is to come from solar farm funding. The rest of the expected expenditure under this heading is for the installation of noticeboards and the relocation of the Kestrel Court noticeboard onto legs. The expected expenditure this year is now anticipated to be £3,700 rather than £3,904 which had originally been budgeted. For next year there was no visibility of any repairs and maintenance in the parish; therefore, nothing has been budgeted.

Parish weed spraying had originally been budgeted at £2,684 for the year; however, the expected spend is now £3,438 which is to come from solar farm funding. While two weed sprays were undertaken during the year, this is higher than expected, due to costs increasing for this service. For next year two weed sprays during the year have been budgeted again, with a forecast spend of £3,500 which is to come from solar farm funding.

In the current year, the budget for LHFIG (Local Highway and Footpath Improvement Group) was £25,000; however, the expected spend is much lower at £4,581. This is because some schemes in which the parish council have to pay 50% of the cost may not have moved any further forward, as well as extra being budgeted for in case there were any other LHFIG requests during the year. For the next financial year, £10,300 had been budgeted which is to come from CIL.

For new bus shelters £16,500 had been budgeted this year, which was for the new bus shelter at Falcon Way, Bowerhill; however, we are not currently any further forward with this project so it is expected that there will be no spend under this

heading this year. It has been agreed that the wooden bus shelter at Beanacre needs to be replaced and this is expected to be undertaken in the 2024/25 financial year. The estimated budget for this is £22,500, which is for the Beanacre shelter as well as the new Falcon Way bus shelter, both from reserves.

The spend on speed indicator devices (SID) is expected to be lower than originally anticipated which is due to both of the SIDs not being put up around the parish for most of the year. This was due to them requiring to be re programmed as per the Wiltshire Council SID guidance and a service issue with the current contractors. The hope is that the SIDs will be erected in the last quarter of the financial year, therefore, some spend is expected. In addition, CAWS (Community Action Whitley & Shaw) were also looking to purchase a SID with the parish council paying the costs for erecting the device; however, this does not appear to be any further forward at this time. The expected spend this year is £1,205 which is to come from solar farm funding. For next year £5,200 has been budgeted which is for the erection of the SIDs around the parish as well as match funding CAWS for a possible third SID.

Under the play area budget heading for the current year £18,700 was originally forecast; however, it is now expected that the expenditure will be £15,500 which is slightly lower than originally thought. This was because the council had originally budgeted for the replacement of some of the wooden equipment at Beanacre Play Area but when reviewing this during the year decided to keep a watch on the equipment for the time being. It is considered that if a piece of equipment is replaced the safety surfacing would also need to be replaced as well as any other piece of equipment in that island of surfacing. Most of the expenditure from this heading this year is for the Whitworth Play Area tarmac pathway works and the installation of safety surfacing under the teen shelter following the adoption of the play area. The Kestrel Play Area edge repairs were also undertaken this year to resolve the trip hazards at the play area. All expenditure this year have been shown as coming from CIL. For next year £75,000 has been budgeted for, which includes £20,000 for the replacement wooden equipment and safety surfacing at Beanacre Play Area, £20,000 replacement safety surfacing at Hornchurch Road Play Area and £35,000 for new equipment for the Bowerhill Sports Field enhancement project. The expenditure for the enhancement project was originally under the Bowerhill Sports Field cost centre but members felt that it should be under parish amenities. This was because each year the council reviewed the expenditure of the sports field against the income they received from hirers and as this project was separate from the bookable sporting activities at the field members didn't want it to be mixed up with the running costs associated with the pavilion and field. The council are applying for grant funding towards the sports field enhancement project with expected income for this shown under general income. The budget shows £20,000 coming from reserves and £20,000 coming from solar farm.

A few years ago, the parish council purchased a drinking water fountain for the Bowerhill Sports Field; however, due to installation issues, there was some delay in getting it installed. There had been no budgeted figure for drinking water fountains this year as it was not foreseen that it would be installed this year. Following an issue in the pavilion pump room that needed actioning, it was discovered that the same contractor doing these works could also install the fountain at the same time; therefore, £875 is showing as spent for this year which is for the installation work. This is to come from CIL funding as always envisioned. For next year £4,200 has been budgeted, which is for the purchase of another drinking water fountain for Shaw Village Hall. The budgeted amount also included installation.

The Berryfield Village Hall is now up and running and the £11,719 held back for the one-year retention period has now been paid following an end of defects meeting with the contractor. Other expenditure under this heading is for the amount left to pay for the final works to the site of the old village hall building, solar battery for the new village hall and insurance which is charged back to the hall committee and will be shown under income. As per the terms of the lease, the parish council arrange the Berryfield Village Hall building insurance and charge the cost back to the Trust. All of the £19,260 expenditure under this heading is shown as coming from the Berryfield Village Hall reserve. For the next year as the village hall is no longer a new build, any expenditure for the hall will come through the grant process; therefore, no funds have been allocated under this heading.

For the public works loan capital and interest payments, members discussed paying back the loan in the current financial year due to the current rate being in the council's favour. As the recommendation from this evening's meeting to Full Council is to pay back the loan this year this is shown in the budget. This is of course pending officers obtaining updated information from the Public Loan Board on the council's position if it was to be paid back after the Full Council meeting. All of the expenditure relating to the loan repayments is to come from the Berryfield Village Hall reserve; therefore, for this year it is showing £336,500 plus £2,166 (interest that has already been paid this year) as spend. For next year as it is anticipated that the loan will be paid off in full there is no expenditure from either the capital cost code or the interest cost code.

Street furniture spend is expected to be lower than expected this year with £3,000 originally budgeted and £2,000 now estimated. It is always difficult to estimate how much is required for street furniture as it is unknown whether a noticeboard or bin may need to be replaced. The council are anticipating that the BRAG (Bowerhill Residents Action Group) benches which were purchased as part of their seating project a few years ago will be installed this year as well as the benches that Wiltshire Council donated to the council designated for wildflower areas. All expenditure here is to come from solar farm funding. For the 2024/25 financial year £3,000 has been budgeted for any assets that may require replacing during the year.

Parish grass cutting, bin emptying, goal maintenance and line marking are all as per the contract agreement with JH Jones. The council's three-year contract expired at the end of the last financial year and the council agreed at the time that due to the cost of inflation, it would be unfair for both parties to enter into another three-year contract at that time. As a result, it was agreed to extend the current contract by one year with an increase of 10% which meant the total cost of the contract for the year was £17,651. The only addition to the contract is for the grass cutting and bin emptying at Whitworth Play area which has increased the costs. For next year as the contract is due for renewal, this is currently being reviewed but for the purpose of the budget we have received a cost indication of an increase of 5% which has been included in the budget. This is split across several cost codes and the general, sportsfield and allotment expenditure.

The budget for Shurnhold Fields maintenance was originally budgeted to be £2,000 for this year; however, the expected spend is now expected to be £9,877 which is to

come from the maintenance reserve. The increase in costs is partly due to the Friends of Shurnhold Fields mower being broken beyond repair during the year; therefore, them being unable to mow the pathways around the field themselves. As a consequence, the council have had to contract this work out which has increased costs which were not foreseen at the time of budget setting. It was noted that although the maintenance fund funded the mower petrol, the 'Friends' were mowing the grass as volunteers so there were no costs for labour; whereas, now this was an additional cost. The 'Friends' are looking to purchase a new mower for the field. All other costs are associated with the caretaking duties and general maintenance of the field. In the next financial year, 10,400 has been budgeted which includes all of the caretaking duties at the field as well as £7,000 for a shed that can store equipment such as a new mower etc. As part of the car park improvement project, £1,500 has been shown for ditch works and the installation of a water supply which has been identified as supporting maintenance so can come from the maintenance contribution held in reserves.

The council anticipated that the car park and entrance improvement project for Shurnhold Fields would be undertaken in the current financial year; however, due to delays with the Environment Agency not granting permission for the project to go ahead, nothing is expected to be spent this year. This was due to the car park site being too close to a watercourse as a result, Wiltshire Council had applied to the Environment Agency for some funding towards flood prevention works at Shurnhold Fields. This means that this has become a Wiltshire Council project and as part of the wider scheme Wiltshire Council can approve the works to go ahead. This does mean; however, that the council have to wait until Wiltshire Council have undertaken their works before the car park and entrance project can go ahead. For the next financial year, it is expected that this project will commence; therefore, £30,000 is being shown as being spent. As the tender for the project is now out of date, this will need to be renegotiated. It is estimated that £10,000 (including £5k grant from Area Board) will be coming from the Shurnhold Fields Capital replacement reserve and £2,500 coming from CIL. As this is a joint project with Melksham Town Council 50% of the expenditure will be paid for by them. For clarity, it is estimated that both councils will pay up to £15,000 towards the project; however, as the full expenditure will come from the parish council's accounts £30,000 has to be shown. The town council's share will be shown as income.

The insurance for the Bowerhill Sports Pavilion is considerably lower than budgeted for this year, as explained under parish insurance the council accepted a much lower quote. The expected year end total is £576 which is lower than the budgeted expenditure which was £5,024. In the next financial year £565 has been budgeted this is due to the fact that the council have taken out a long term agreement with the insurance company, as a result, receive a discount.

The electricity for the pavilion was originally budgeted at £2,000; however, it is now estimated that £1,700 will be spent this year. For some of the year, due to bad weather, football bookings have been unable to go ahead, in addition at budget setting the council anticipated that the kitchen and games room would be hired out but in the current financial year no bookings have been received for this use. For next year £1,800 has been budgeted based on the expected expenditure this year. For pavilion gas for the current year, the anticipated expenditure is lower than the anticipated £3,000 spend. It is now estimated that £1,500 will be spent this year due

to the same reasons as described under electricity. Additionally, at the time of budget setting last year gas prices were increasing by a considerable amount; therefore, the council had to include the provision in the budget for this.

For the pavilion cleaner costs, it was originally budgeted that there would be £2,750 spend this year; however, the anticipated true expenditure for the year is expected to be £2,100. This is due to games having to be cancelled during the year due to bad weather. For next year the budgeted cost is £3,000 as it is unknown what hirers the pavilion may get as well as the cleaner may increase her charges.

The expected spend this year on repairs and maintenance for the pavilion is considerably more than budgeted for. Originally budgeted was £1,884 with the expected spend now being £9,842. This is because two of the hot water return pumps needed to be replaced in the pump room due to one of them splitting. As a consequence, the control panel on the water heater needed to be replaced due to water getting into the system. Separately, to this issue, the tank base that the tank sits on was rotting away and needed urgent attention due to there being concerns that it could fail at any time resulting in the tank getting damaged and water pooling in the pump room where there is a large number of electrical equipment. This was replaced by a specialist company so this risk has now been resolved. The additional expenditure which is over budget will come from reserves. For next year £2,000 has been budgeted for any repairs required at the pavilion.

Originally budgeted for pitch and pavilion improvements was £1,500; however, the expected expenditure is now £7,220. Most of this cost is associated with the moveable goal posts which are to come from reserves. During the year the council have also agreed to fertilising the pitch and pitch spiking. The council agreed to vire the pavilion rates budget to this heading as the council received £0 rates bill this year. For next year £5,750 has been budgeted which is for the provision of ditch works to prevent waterlogged pitches as well as for spiking and fertilising. The provision for pitch spiking and fertilising is to come from reserves.

Spend for waste collection is slightly higher this year, originally budgeted for the year was £600 and the expected spend is now £1,000. It was difficult to foresee how many extra waste collections may be required at the pavilion so was difficult to estimate. For next year £850 has been budgeted which is to cover the cost of the contract and some provision for extra waste collections.

The allotment account shows a similar level of expenditure as budgeted for this financial year. For 2024/25 it is expected that £2,191 will be spent which is a slight increase on the current year.

### Recommendation 2: Parish Amenities Costs (Including Allotment and Bowerhill Sports Field):

 Budgeted Expenditure for 2023/24
 £301,586.03

 Anticipated Expenditure for 2023/24
 £478,792.00\*

 Proposed Expenditure 2024/25
 £236,811.00\*\*

\*With £382,322 coming from reserves, £6,456 from CIL and £12,386 coming from solar farm.

\*\*With £50,580 coming from reserves, £12,800 from CIL and £51,100 coming from solar farm.

### Community Support Costs:

In the current year the grants given were lower than budgeted for, with some of the reason being that some organisations either didn't come back to the parish council following queries raised about their application or the grant award was not cashed in. The budget for all grants this year was £37,700 (this was £17,000 under section 137, £20,000 under village halls and £700 under section 144 grants) and the estimated year end was £35,090. The council agreed to provide £3,700 match funding towards additional costs associated with the Shaw and Whitley Community hubs community shop which is to come out of the match funding reserve. For 2024/25 £17,000 was budgeted for \$137 grants, £20,000 for village hall grants and £700 for \$144 grants giving an overall grant budget of £37,700.

For the Market Place toilets, the expenditure for the year is less than originally budgeted for. This is because the council has agreed to pay Melksham Town Council a flat rate figure of £5,000 per annum towards them for the next three years. As there had previously been some issues around the bills which delayed payments, this seemed to be the most suitable way forward so the parish council did not need to get involved in the details of the maintenance charges and agreements. For next year the same amount has been budgeted as per the agreement.

For this year £7,000 had been budgeted for real time information for the Mitchell Drive bus shelter in Bowerhill; however, it looks like this project will now move forward in the next financial year so nothing is expected to be spent this year. In the next financial year, £20,200 is being shown as being spent on real time information which is for three bus shelters. This is a joint project with Melksham Town Council and is the only project that the use of the 10% CIL sharing pot that has been agreed upon.

For the Neighbourhood Plan, it was budgeted that £2,000 would be spent in the current year; however, the expected expenditure is now £14,750. As already explained for joint projects some of this expenditure is overinflated due to some of the cost being charged back to Melksham Town Council for their share which will be shown under income. The council are expecting £6,678 to come in from Melksham Town Council for the share of the costs towards this project. The budget is showing £6,072 coming from reserves with £2,000 coming from the precept. For next year £1,000 has been budgeted for the project.

Costs associated with Melksham Community Support for the senior project worker is on par with what was budgeted for this year. The budgeted figure for the year was £11,500 with an estimated spend of £14,000. The estimated spend is overinflated due to the council transferring £2,500 to the town council which is their share of the Area Board grant received for the project. Members agreed that this project should continue as it was providing residents of Melksham with a great service; therefore, £12,000, has been put into the budget for this provision for the 2024/25 year.

Melksham Emergency Support is a separate project which is designed for emergencies such as flooding or extreme snow. Nothing had been budgeted in this financial year for this project; however, the anticipated spend is £500 for this year to come from reserves. This expenditure is for costs associated with keeping the Lamplight database system live and for the emergency phone number. For the 2024/25 financial year £7,861 has been budgeted which is for the printed fridge magnets, leaflets, hotline rental and database licence which will be covered by the grant received from SSEN.

#### **Recommendation 3:**

**Community Support Costs (Including Joint Ventures):** 

Budgeted Expenditure for 2023/24	£67,635.00
Anticipated Expenditure for 2023/24	£71,040.00*
Proposed Expenditure 2024/25	£85,696.00**

\*With £10,272.00 from reserves. \*\*With £28,061.00 coming from reserves.

#### General Fund:

The General Fund is the amount left in the council's bank account at year end, excluding reserves. The council's Reserves Policy states that it will stand at approximately one month's expenditure. At the end of the draft budget review, the General Fund stood at -£4,856 for the year ending 31<sup>st</sup> March 2024.

**Resolved:** The officers relook at the budget and allocate some more of the 2023/24 expenditure against either Reserves, CIL or Solar Farm funding as appropriate, to bring the General Fund at year end in line with a month's spend.

**POST MEETING NOTE:** This was undertaken with a revised General Fund now at £56,720.

### TOTAL PROPOSED EXPENDITURE FOR 2024/25

Administration Costs (including office staffing)	£170,543.00
Parish Amenities Costs (incl Allotment and Bowerhill Sports Field)	£236,811.00
Community Support Costs (incl Joint Ventures)	<u>£ 85,696.00</u>
TOTAL	£493,050.00

Of this expenditure, £78,641.00 is budgeted to come from reserves, with £32,800 from CIL and £51,100 from Solar Farm Funding.

These headings do not analyse any profit or deficit against the Allotment or Sports Field account, as historically reported (although they do on the detailed budget spreadsheet) please see below the following figures for the analysis:

#### Allotments:

Income 2024/25	£2,882.00
Expenditure 2024/25	£2,191.00
Difference 2024/25	£ 691.00

This will inform the Asset Management Committee when considering whether the allotment rent should be increased from 1st October 2024.

### **Bowerhill Sports Field:**

Income 2024/25	£13,225.00
Expenditure 2024/25	£34,241.00
Difference 2024/25	- £21,016.00

#### b) To recommend virements against Budget for 2023/2024.

The Clerk explained that as the parish council received 100% rate relief for the Sports Pavilion, the Asset Management Committee on  $10^{th}$  July 23 agreed for the £835 budgeted under rates to be vired into the sports field spiking budget heading. This will be done at year end.

The Clerk explained that there was still some grant budget left and; therefore, suggested in the budget spreadsheet that the  $\pounds$ 6,310 surplus be vired into the match funding reserve at year end.

**Recommendation:** The council make a virement of £6,310 from the grants to the community match funding reserve.

### c) To recommend Budget for 2024/2025.

The council recommended the budget for 2024/25 as per above.

#### 346/23 Precept:

 a) To note news bulletin from NALC (National Association of Local Councils) advising that there will be no referendum for precept increases for town and parish councils for 2024/25.

Members noted the news bulletin advising that there will be no referendum for precept increases for town and parish councils for 2024/25.

# b) To note confirmed Taxbase number for 2024/25 and that there will be no Council Tax Reduction scheme by Wiltshire Council in 2024/25 following recent consultation.

Members noted the taxbase number for 2024/25 of 2908.62.

In November 2023 Wiltshire Council had sent through some correspondence regarding some changes to its council tax reduction scheme which they were consulting on at the time. They advised that if all the proposals were implemented this would affect the taxbase figure for 2024/25; therefore, they issued a draft tax base figure and also a worst-case scenario figure and confirmed that the actual taxbase figure would be communicated on 13<sup>th</sup> December. In December 2023 Wiltshire Council confirmed that due to the amount of feedback received from the consultation they required more time to analyse the results and as such no changes have been made to the scheme for 2024/25.

### c) To recommend Parish Council Precept for 2024/2025.

For the forthcoming financial year 2024/25 the following Precept calculation was

made.	Expenditure	less	Income =	Precept
-------	-------------	------	----------	---------

<u>Expenditure</u> Allotments Sports Field General Total Expenditure	£ 2,191.00 £ 34,241.00 <u>£456.618.00</u> <b>£493,050.00</b>
Plus: Funds put into Reserves <b>TOTAL</b>	£126,595.35 <b>£619,645.35</b>
<u>Income</u> Allotments Sports Field General <b>Total Income</b>	£ 2,882.00 £ 13,225.00 (changed from £30,725) £199,405.35 (changed from £181,905.35) <b>£215,512.35</b>
Plus: Spending from reserves <b>TOTAL</b>	£142,541.00 <b>£358,053.35</b>
Shortfall to fulfil with Precept	£261,592.00 (changed from £260,092.00)

It was noted that the precept for the current year (2023/24) was £245,271.03 with a taxbase of 2895.42 which meant that the average contribution for an average band D was £84.71.

**Recommendation:** The Finance Committee recommend a precept of £260,092.00 for 2024/25 against a taxbase of 2908.62. This is an increase of £14,820.97 (6%) on last year's precept. An average band D household will be contributing £89.42 for the year, an additional £4.71 on last year, which is a rise of 5.56%.

**# POST MEETING NOTE**: The figures were double checked following the meeting, and it was discovered that although £1,500 from CIL was taken out of the budget spreadsheet under street furniture at the meeting, this didn't filter through to the CIL tab. The figures above have been added to reflect the checked spreadsheet for the Full Council to review on Monday 22<sup>nd</sup> January. This does however, change the Precept requirement by £1,500.

**Revised Recommendation following correction:** The Finance Committee recommend a precept of £261,592.00 for 2024/25 against a taxbase of 2908.62. This is an increase of £16,320.97 (6.65%) on last year's precept. An average band D household will be contributing £89.94 for the year, an additional £5.23 on last year, which is a rise of 6.17%.

### 347/23 Risk Register:

The Clerk explained that the council had to review the risk register every year and had been an advisory on the internal auditor's report. Officers had gone through the risk register in tracked changes and had detailed any necessary changes which were included in the councillor's agenda pack for this evening's meeting. The Clerk explained that the council had undertaken an exercise a few years ago to risk rate each section; however, upon reviewing the register she did not feel any changes needed to be made because there had not been a change in circumstances since last year, such as a change of staff personnel or move to a new office. Other than the changes that officers had made to the document text, members did not feel that any changes needed to be made to any risk rating.

Recommendation: The council approve the risk register.

### 348/23 Internal Audit visit:

The Clerk explained that the first internal audit of this financial year took place on Wednesday 20th December and went well overall, with some observations and recommendations being made by the auditor. Provided as part of the internal auditor's report was a spreadsheet version of his comments and recommendations for officers to respond to. This had been included in the agenda pack for this evening's meeting and had been populated with responses made by officers that had already been sent back to the auditor. At the time of the audit visit, the auditor had made officers aware that some councils had experienced issues with Lloyds Bank where former councillors and employees had been reactivated as users on the Lloyds Banking system. Officers had explained that something similar had happened to the parish council, where an online banking card had been received for a former employee who had left the council around four years ago. At the time of this, officers did contact the bank to get this rectified. The internal auditor has suggested in his report that the council contact Lloyds Bank to confirm that they only have records of current authorised employees and councillors, which officers will do in due course.

Another thing that the auditor highlighted was the fact that the council had not formally reviewed or approved the bank signatories for some time, which was on this evening's agenda for members to review. This was the same for the review of the risk register, which would be undertaken at the meeting this evening. It was noted that the risk register had to be reviewed once a year and was last reviewed in January 2023, so it was now due. The council had recently approved to deposit some funds in the CCLA Public Sector Deposit Fund and, as such, would need to update the investment policy accordingly to reflect what was being done, which was on the agenda for this evening. The list of Bowerhill Sports Field fees and chargers was not published on the council's website at the time of the audit; this has now been published under the parish amenity section on the website.

During the visit, the auditor reviewed the parish council's tenancies and leases. He highlighted the fact that the parish council did not have a current lease agreement in place for the allotments as the land was owned by a farmer. In exchange for the allotment land, the farmer uses parish council owned land for farming, so in effect, these are netted off against each other. The Clerk advised that there was a Farm Business Tenancy between the parish council and the farmer; however, this had now expired. At the time of this, the council did take legal advice; however, it was agreed not to sign a new tenancy and let the agreement tick over with the same terms. It was noted that the parish council had first refusal registered with the Land Registry for Briansfield Allotments site if the land was put up for sale; however, the auditor did not feel this necessarily provided the council with a lot of protection as the purchase price could be considerably higher than the council may wish to pay. The auditor has recommended that the council seek formal legal advice on this matter. This is

something that sits better with the Asset Management Committee and; therefore, will be put on the agenda for that meeting to consider on 5th February. The only other matter highlighted at the audit concerning land was the fact that the council still needed to register the Shaw Village Hall land with the Land Registry. This was an action that officers still had to do.

# 349/23 Bank Signatories: To confirm bank signatory arrangements for the council's bank accounts:

The Clerk explained that this had been an observation on the auditor's report, and although it was listed in the council's scheme of delegation that all finance committee members were bank signatories, the council needed to formally minute who their bank signatories were. It was noted that the council's current procedure was for any two of the finance committee members to sign off and authorise the accounts. For Lloyds Bank no bank payments are set up and as such no finance member has access to the account, they are only able to sign cheques. For Unity Trust Bank the finance members can view the account and authorise payments but are unable to set a payment up.

Both the Clerk and Finance & Amenities Officer were listed on both of the council's bank accounts. For Lloyds, they are only able to view the account with no facility to set payments up or sign cheques, and on Unity Trust Bank they can view and set up payments but are unable to authorise any payments

**Recommendation:** The council confirm the bank signatories are as follows:

Councillor John Glover Councillor Alan Baines Councillor Robert-Shea Simonds Councillor Richard Wood Councillor David Pafford Councillor Shona Holt Councillor John Doel

### 350/23 Investments:

# a) To review and amend investment policy to reflect the fact that the council is commencing investment with the CCLA (Churches, Charities and Local Authorities).

Following the decision made by the Full Council in December 2023 to transfer funds into the CCLA Public Sector Deposit Fund, the investment policy needs to be amended to reflect this. Officers had suggested the following amendment to 2.3iii: ' 'All investments will be made in UK banks and building societies **and by appointing Charities, Churches and Local Authorities Investment Management Ltd. (CCLA), for investment of surplus funds into the Public Sector Deposit Fund (PSDF).**' Officers had made a further change to the second paragraph under section 2.3vi which states; 'For prudent management of its balances, the Parish Council, maintaining sufficient levels of security and liquidity, will adopt a policy whereby funds which are likely to be surplus for up to three months can be invested in short term deposits with one or more of the UK major clearing banks, and/or building societies **and/or the CCLA**.' Members were happy with the changes made to the investment policy.

**Recommendation:** The council approve the amendments to the investment policy as detailed above.

### b) To review CCLA Public Sector Deposit Fund application form and approve signatory and authorisation councillors and officers.

The Clerk explained that as part of the Public Sector Deposit Fund application form, the council had to formally minute the approval of their signatories and authorisation councillors and officers. Members agreed that it should be the seven Finance Committee Councillors and both the Clerk and Finance & Amenities Officer which was the same as the mandate set up with the council's bank accounts.

For clarity, the following councillors and officers should be listed on the public sector deposit fund:

### **Councillors:**

Councillor John Glover Councillor Alan Baines Councillor Robert-Shea Simonds Councillor Richard Wood Councillor David Pafford Councillor Shona Holt Councillor John Doel

### Officers:

Teresa Strange (Clerk & Responsible Financial Officer) Marianne Rossi (Finance & Amenities Officer)

**Recommendation:** The councillors and officers as listed above should be included on the CCLA Public Sector Deposit Fund.

# c) To agree buffer amount to keep in each bank account to cover direct debits and standing orders.

The Clerk explained that the finance risk assessment says that each council bank account should have a £5,000 buffer in case of any unexpected expenditure. As the council were transferring all of their funds into the CCLA Public Sector Deposit Fund (PSDF) queried whether they were still happy with this buffer amount left in both the Lloyds and Unity Current accounts. It was considered that because the money in the PSDF was easy access, members agreed that a buffer of £5,000 should be left in both of the council's bank accounts.

**Recommendation:** The council leave a £5,000 buffer in both of the council's current accounts in case of any unexpected expenditure between Full Council meetings.

# d) To note that the parish council are eligible under the FSCS (Financial Services Compensation Scheme) threshold.

The Clerk explained that the council was currently eligible under the FSCS for their funds in a bank account. It was noted that the FSCS threshold was currently £85,000. The Clerk advised that in the last financial year (2022/23) the council was not covered by this scheme due to the amount of income which was budgeted. It was noted that each year the council has to confirm that their budget is less than 500,000 Euros (£428,901) to be eligible for the scheme. While the council is eligible in this financial year, the Clerk warned members that if the council's income increased it may take the council over the threshold and; therefore, ineligible in other financial years.

The Clerk wished to make members aware that the council were not covered by the FSCS for the CCLA Public Sector Deposit Fund.

Members noted this.

# 351/23 To note advice received on providing grant funding to churches, following recent Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill

The Clerk advised that she had recently received some information following the levelling up bill on grant funding to churches. The advice received was not clear as to whether parish and town councils could now provide grant funding to churches. The Clerk took the opportunity during the internal auditor's visit to query him on his thoughts on this and he replied to say that if councils were now able to fund churches NALC (National Association of Local Councils) would have sent out a Legal advice note to councils. The Clerk confirmed that she had not received any advice from NALC on this matter.

Members acknowledged the information received around the recent levelling up bill relating to grant funding to churches; however, as there had been no official advice note sent out to councils on whether they could now fund churches they could only note this until further advice is received on this.

# 352/23 To note abrupt end of Bowerhill Sports Field waste contract and subsequent new contract put in place with Grist

The Clerk explained that at the last Asset Management meeting, officers were tasked with submitting a formal complaint to the waste contractor due to continuous issues with service. This action was undertaken; however, officers did not receive a reply to the complaint within the time frame they had detailed in the complaint letter. Because waste bags were stacking up outside of the bins in the pavilion car park, this was attracting rats, which the council was receiving complaints from hirers about. As officers had not received any reply to the formal complaint, they contacted the waste contractor by phone and got put through to the retention team, who explained that they were unable to take the waste due to the amount of dog waste it contained. A member of the retention team arranged to come out to the site with the collection crew to discuss the issue with officers. As a result of this site visit, the contractor confirmed that

they would be unable to take the amount of dog waste in the rubbish and, as a result, have terminated the contract without any penalty to the parish council.

As the contract was terminated without any notice, this left the pavilion without any commercial waste bins or collection, so officers contacted two waste companies to provide quotations for this service. For service continuity, the Clerk, in conjunction with the Chair of Asset Management, Councillor Baines, and Acting Council Chair Councillor Pafford (Councillor Glover was on holiday), made the decision to appoint Grist Environmental as the council's waste contractor. The agreement with Grist Environmental is as follows:

2x 1100l General Waste bins- £28 + VAT per empty- collection on a fortnightly basis Daily rental is 5p+ VAT per day Maximum weight 70kg 15p per kilo for excess weight

There is no contract length, the service can be stopped at any time; the council would just need to give the contractor 30 days' notice.

Members noted this.

### 353/23 To consider additional charges for the Campus and Pavilion broadband and line rental to cover equipment in case of an issue.

The Clerk explained that the council had recently received a letter from their broadband and line rental provider to offer cover for equipment in case of a fault. In the letter, it explained that BT Openreach was responsible for maintaining the phone network that our provider supplies to the council. This means that it is the responsibility of BT Openreach to send out an engineer when a fault occurs within the network. If the issue lies with the parish council's equipment, all charges will be passed on to the council, the cost for a call-out alone is £192 including VAT and £144 including VAT per hour thereafter. As a result of this, Onebill has implemented a solution to safeguard customers from any unexpected charges by introducing a business assurance scheme. The cost to the parish council will be £6.29 plus VAT per site per month which guarantees that all line charges will be fixed without any call-out charges or hourly fees etc.

The Clerk explained that this type of cover was with the previous provider to provide service continuity. As this is an increase to a direct debit payment the Clerk wanted to draw members' attention to the additional fees. Members agreed that this would be a good way forward to ensure that the council doesn't receive any unexpected costs if there was any breakdown with the council's line and broadband equipment.

**Recommendation:** The council approve the cost of £6.29 plus VAT per month for business assurance cover for both the Campus Office and Pavilion.

Meeting closed at 21.49pm

Signed..... Chairman, Monday 22<sup>nd</sup> January 2024